I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Circuit Judge erred in granting summary judgment based upon his finding that the Agreement between the parties was for the purpose of the Plaintiff's marketing of the natural gas produced by Petitioner and sold to the Respondent, and not the sale of the natural gas produced by Petitioner and sold to Respondent.
- B. The Circuit Judge erred in granting summary judgment based upon his finding that the Delivery Point for the natural gas produced and sold by the Petitioner to the Respondent was at Oxford, Pennsylvania at the intersection of two interstate pipelines not referenced in the Agreement. This led the Circuit Judge to erroneously find that Petitioner was liable to the Respondent for the transportation charges under the Agreement.
- C. The Circuit Judge erred in granting summary judgment by relying upon pre-contract negotiations when making his findings as to the terms of the Agreement between the parties.
- D. The Circuit Judge erred in granting summary judgment based upon his finding and conclusion that, because the Petitioner had had not previously contended that the Delivery Point for the sale of natural gas purchased by Respondent from Petitioner was at some other location than Pennsylvania, Petitioner could not contest the charges imposed by Respondent, nor could Petitioner now contest that the Delivery Point for the sale of its natural gas was at the meter near Chelyan,

Kanawha County, West Virginia, which meter was designated in the Term Sheets issued by Respondent as the Delivery Point.

- E. The Circuit Judge erred in finding that the terms of the Agreement precluded the Petitioner from terminating the Agreement.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. THE KIND OF PROCEEDING AND NATURE OF THE RULING IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL

Respondent Riley Natural Gas Company (hereinafter “Respondent”) filed a Complaint and an Amended Complaint seeking declaratory and monetary relief from Petitioner Northstar Energy Corporation (hereinafter “Petitioner”), claiming that Petitioner breached the Agreement and by failing to pay Respondent for firm transportation capacity on Dominion Transmission Inc.’s Appalachia Gateway Project Facilities natural gas pipeline. App. 23-34; 63-81.

In its Counterclaim and Amended Counterclaim Petitioner sought a declaration that the Delivery Point for the natural gas which Petitioner produced, sold and delivered to Respondent, pursuant to the Agreement was not subject to transportation charges which were alleged to be due and owing; that Respondent wrongfully withheld from the proceeds of the gas delivered and sold the amount of those transportation charges; that Petitioner was entitled to recover a money judgment against Respondent for the transportation charges which had been deducted from the proceeds of the gas it delivered and sold, and that it was entitled to terminate the Agreement. App. 41-54; 83-98.

Both parties filed Motions and Memorandums for Summary Judgment and did argue their respective positions to the Court. The transcript of that argument appears as a part of the Appendix to this proceeding. App. 467-540. On April 16, 2019, Judge Paul T.

Farrell, sitting as the Presiding Judge of the Business Court Division of the Circuit Court of Harrison County, West Virginia, made his ruling in favor of the Respondent. Thereafter, on May 10, 2019, at the request of the parties in order to allow for an immediate appeal of his decision, the Circuit Judge entered his “Amended Order Granting Plaintiff Riley’s Motion for Summary Judgement and Denying Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law” (the “Order”). App. 1. In those Orders the Court denied Petitioner any relief.

As required by the Order, the parties conferred and agreed upon the amount of damages which the Respondent was entitled to recover of and from the Petitioner based upon the Circuit Court’s findings and conclusions. The Circuit Court then issued a money judgment in favor of the Respondent and against the Petitioner in the amount of Five Million, Five Hundred Thirty-Eight Thousand Three Hundred Fifty-One Dollars and Thirty Seven cents (\$5,538,351.37). App. 463-65.

B. STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS

In late March and early April of 2008, Dominion Transportation (“DTI”), asked for an expression of interest of gas producers and others in their ability to deliver and fill the firm transportation capacity (“FT”) which DTI projected to have available on the Dominion pipeline system. DTI was planning to construct 109 miles of pipeline and add or upgrade some of its existing compressor stations. This project was called DTI’s Appalachia Gateway Project Facilities and was to be in service by November of 2010. App. 142; 145.

On or about August 1, 2008, Petitioner Northstar as “Seller” and Respondent Riley as “Purchaser” entered into an Agreement dated August 1, 2008, wherein Respondent agreed to

purchase and receive, and Petitioner agreed to sell and deliver, natural gas in accordance with a series of Term Sheets to be issued by Respondent to Petitioner (the "Agreement"). App. 73.¹

The Agreement described the "Delivery Point(s)" for the gas sold by Petitioner to Respondent by providing that "[t]he point of sale and Delivery Point(s) shall be the Meter(s) as set forth in the applicable Term Sheet." Agreement, ¶4, App. 74. The Term Sheet attached to the Agreement as Exhibit A, and later Term Sheets for subsequent periods, provide that the Delivery Point for the sale of the gas production from Petitioner to Respondent, that is, the point where Respondent took title to and control of the gas from Petitioner, was and is Meter #215530, known as the Northstar Energy Corporation Carbon Fuel interconnection into the Dominion Transmission Pipeline identified as pipeline TL-263 near Chelyan in Kanawha County, West Virginia at Slaughter's Creek. App. 78; 317-31; 374-449. The costs for the installation of the gas line tap into the Dominion Transmission TL-263 pipeline, and the purchase price of the meter and its installation were paid for by Petitioner in 1999. Deposition of James Abcouwer, p. 19, ll. 5-8, App. 240.

The Agreement, and the Term Sheets which were incorporated as a part of the Agreement, were clear in setting forth the amounts and which party (that is, either the seller or the buyer under the Agreement) would pay the charges which were imposed for transportation and other costs for gas sold by Petitioner to Respondent and delivered pursuant to the terms of the Agreement. Agreement, ¶2, App. 73. Among the charges set forth in the Agreement were separate charges for transportation, which either were borne by the Respondent as the purchaser under the Agreement, if the Delivery Point of the natural gas it purchased was not delivered

¹ The Agreement appears numerous times in the Appendix, as attachments to various documents, including the Amended Complaint, and both parties Motions for Summary Judgment. Petitioner will utilize the initial appearance when citation to the Agreement in the Appendix is called-for.

directly into the Dominion Transportation Appalachia Gateway pipeline system, as Petitioner contends. *Id.*

Any transportation of gas upon any pipeline system (which does not belong to the owner of the pipeline system) is performed under some contract or other agreement relating solely to the transportation of that gas. Such a contract is separate and apart from the contract between the producer (in this case Petitioner) and the purchaser (in this case Respondent) who becomes the shipper of the gas following its purchase of the gas at the receipt point. Following the sale at the receipt point the producer (Petitioner) no longer has any responsibility, or “say” in the movement of the gas or its subsequent sale.

Respondent made specific provisions in its Agreement with Petitioner for the responsibility for the payment of the costs to transport the gas to an end user or subsequent purchaser. The Agreement recognized that two alternative scenarios were possible. First, gas could be delivered into the existing Dominion Transmission pipeline system and thus was not a part of the newly-constructed DTI Appalachia Gateway Project Facilities. In such a circumstance the “pricing” provisions of the Agreement provided that Respondent, as the purchaser of the gas under the Agreement, would be responsible for the payment of the transportation cost “downstream” of the Delivery Point. *Id.*, ¶2(b).

Second, gas could be delivered into the newly-constructed DTI Appalachia Gateway Project Facilities. In such a circumstance the “pricing” provisions of the Agreement provided that Petitioner would be responsible for the payment of the transportation cost “downstream” of the Delivery Point. *Id.*, ¶2(a).

These provisions of the “Price” paragraph of the Agreement entitled “Price” sets forth how these transportation costs would be borne as follows:

Seller and Purchaser agree to the Price at the Delivery Point(s) as set forth in the applicable Term Sheet, as such Price may be amended from time to time by mutual agreement of the parties or otherwise amended as set forth in this Agreement in the Term Sheet. Seller shall be responsible and liable for all charges of any kind upstream of the Delivery Point(s) . . . In addition, charges downstream of any Delivery Point(s) shall be borne as follows:

- (a) for any Delivery Point(s) not into DTI's Appalachia Gateway Project facilities, Purchaser shall be responsible and liable for payment of all charges that are Downstream of such Delivery Point(s); and
- (b) for any Delivery Point(s) into DTI's Appalachia Gateway Project facilities, the terms set forth on Exhibit B, "ADDITIONAL TERMS FOR ANY DELIVERY POINT(S) INTO DTI'S APPALACHIA GATEWAY PROJECT FACILITIES" Shall also apply."

Agreement, ¶ 2, App. 73.

Under the Agreement Respondent designated a Delivery Point which determined whether or not the gas moved through the new DTI Appalachia Gateway Project Facilities. Prior to the inception of service under this new contract, Respondent indicated that the Delivery Point would be into a Texas Eastern pipeline, or variously into points such as at Southpointe in western Pennsylvania. Such designation, when the service began, would have triggered provision 2(b) of the contract written by Respondent. App. 142, 145. However, the Agreement and the Term Sheets designated the Delivery Point for the sale of the gas differed from these pre-contract discussions, a vital point which was overlooked and misunderstood by the Court below.

Agreement, Ex. A., App. 78.

Instead, on every Term Sheet Respondent designated the Delivery Point for the sales of Petitioner's gas to Respondent as Mid Meter #215530 at Chelyan, in Kanawha County, West Virginia, which triggered provision 2(a) of the Agreement. App. 78; 317-31; 374-449. The Petitioner produced, then delivered and sold the gas to Respondent, and Respondent purchased the gas, at Meter #215530 on Dominion's pre-existing pipeline TL-263 from 2008 until

November 2015, when Respondent refused to purchase Petitioner's gas due to its high btu content. Deposition of James Abcouwer, pp. 143, l. 12, through p. 145, l. 24, App. 271.

The price paid by Respondent for the gas purchased from Petitioner continued to fall to a point where Petitioner's very existence was jeopardized. Upon receipt of the latest Term Sheet the Petitioner's chief executive officer examined the documents more closely and discovered that, if Petitioner was not satisfied with the proposed price, then it could terminate the Agreement. At this point the price paid per dekatherm by Respondent for the purchase of Petitioner's gas had dropped from \$9.10 in early 2009 to \$1.104 during November, 2015.

Petitioner then realized that, because the gas sold to Respondent was not delivered into the newly-constructed DTI Appalachia Gateway Project Facilities, the transportation cost for such gas, under paragraph 2(a) of the Agreement, was the responsibility of Respondent and not Petitioner. Agreement, ¶2(a), App. 73.

Petitioner also realized that the Delivery Point under the Agreement was not into DTI's newly constructed DTI Appalachia Gateway Project Facilities, but was instead into the very same pipeline, and at the very same meter, where it had delivered natural gas since Petitioner paid for the installation of the tap and meter in 1999. Petitioner had been paying Respondent for transporting gas through the Dominion Transportation System when, under the Agreement, it was the Respondent, as the purchaser, who was to bear such a cost. *Id.*, ¶2(b), App. 73.

On December 7, 2015, Petitioner received the December 1, 2015 Term Sheet. Petitioner's counsel by tele-copy advised Respondent of its request that the Agreement be terminated in accordance with the provisions of paragraph numbered 3 of the Agreement. App. 371. The Agreement provides that the Agreement shall be terminated upon the making of such a "request" for termination, and the provisions of paragraph numbered 3 of the said Agreement

provide that termination shall be effective on the last day of the third calendar month following the month that Respondent received Petitioner's written notice. Agreement, ¶ 3, App. 74.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner believes that the Circuit Court misinterpreted the terms of the written Agreement between these parties in a number of ways.

First, the Court found that the Agreement was a marketing agreement, when the terms of the Agreement clearly and unambiguously state that the Petitioner agreed "to sell and deliver" natural gas which it produced to the Respondent, which it did "agree[] to purchase and receive." Agreement, Introductory Paragraph, App. 73.

The Agreement contained all of the indicia of a contract between parties for the sale of a commodity. It set forth a description of the commodity to be sold, the place where it was to be delivered to the buyer (the Respondent), how the price would be determined, when and how payment was to be made, and the nature of any warranty which attached to the product sold. App. 73-75.

For the Circuit Court to misconstrue the Agreement as one for the marketing of the natural gas to be sold and purchased was clearly erroneous. Unfortunately, the error of this initial finding caused additional errors to follow.

Second, the Circuit Court erroneously found that the point of sale or, as it is designated in the Agreement, the "Delivery Point" for the sale of the Petitioner's natural gas to the Respondent was at Oakford, Pennsylvania. Abundant evidence was provided by both parties that the Agreement specified that the "Delivery Point" for the natural gas to be sold was at a specific measurement meter which the Petitioner had paid to be installed on a Dominion Transmission pipeline at Cheylan, in Kanawha County, in the 1990s. Agreement, ¶ 4, App. 74; 488-89.

This error was, in turn, based upon the Circuit Court's consideration of a series of pre-contract information provided by the Respondent to other producers during the period when the Respondent was negotiating for other gas purchase contracts. However, the Petitioner's chief executive officer testified that he had never seen those materials. App. 268.

While the Circuit Court's reliance upon the documents was erroneous based upon well-established principles of contract law, it was especially egregious when there was unrefuted testimony that the Petitioner's management had never seen or reviewed the documents. Deposition of James Abcouwer, p. 130, ll. 3-18; p. 131, ll. 2-23; p. 132, l. 3; p. 133, l. 2, App. 268.

As a result, the findings of the Circuit Court were in error both as findings of fact and as conclusions of law, and the Summary Judgment Order into which they were included must be reversed.

The Circuit Court found and held that, because the Petitioner had not contested the Delivery Point for the sale of the natural gas it produced and sold to the Respondent during the short three years in which the Agreement had been operational, it could not contest the charges which were imposed by the Respondent for the transportation of the natural gas. The Petitioner's Counterclaims asserting these issues were made in this litigation within a three year period and immediately upon learning of what it believed to be unsupported charges. Such assertions were well within the applicable statute of limitations for contracts under West Virginia law, and were asserted in response to the Respondent's collection Complaint. App. 49-54, 92-98. The Circuit Court's ruling that Petitioner could not assert them as a defense to the Complaint filed against it was an error of law which must be reversed by this Court.

Lastly, the Circuit Court found that the Petitioner had no right to terminate the

Agreement. The Petitioner demonstrated the factual and legal bases within the Agreement which gave it such termination rights. As noted above, the Circuit Court's erroneous findings and conclusions as to the "Delivery Point" for the natural gas sold to the Respondent were the cause for this erroneous finding.

This matter should be remanded to the Circuit Court with this Court finding that the Agreement was a sales contract and not a marketing agreement between the parties. This Court should simply apply the unambiguous terms of the Agreement to find that the Delivery Point for the natural gas sold to the Respondent was at a pre-existing pipeline connection in Kanawha County, West Virginia and not into newly-constructed pipeline facilities in Western Pennsylvania, thereby relieving the Petitioner of transportation charges imposed upon it by the Respondent, and allowing it to terminate the Agreement when its terms became uneconomical, as was the Petitioner's right under the Agreement.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

This matter should be set for argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure because of the importance of the issues which are presented: issues of contract interpretation but involving the plain reading and application of the terms of an unambiguous contract by the Circuit Court, which contract was erroneously construed and resulted in a verdict against the Petitioner in the amount of Five Million, Five Hundred Thirty-Eight Thousand Three Hundred Fifty-One Dollars and Thirty Seven cents (\$5,538,351.37).

V. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Petitioner asserts that the Circuit Court erred in granting Summary Judgment to the Respondent, and in holding the Petitioner liable to the Respondent for money damages as a

matter of law. The Court reviews a circuit court's entry of summary judgment *de novo*. *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994) ("A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*.").

"The interpretation of [a] contract, including the question of whether the contract is ambiguous, is a legal determination that, like a lower court's grant of summary judgment, shall be reviewed *de novo* on appeal. *Riffe v. Home Finders Associates, Inc.*, 205 W.Va. 216, 517 S.E.2d 313 (1999), Syl. Pt. 2.

Additionally, Respondent challenges the Circuit Court's conclusion of law which resulted in a money judgment against it in the amount of Five Million, Five Hundred Thirty-Eight Thousand Three Hundred Fifty-One Dollars and Thirty Seven Cents (\$5,538,351.37) because that judgment was founded upon the Court's summary judgment ruling. App. 463-65.

"Generally, findings of fact are reviewed [by this Court] for clear error and conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo*. However, ostensible findings of fact, which entail the application of law or constitute legal judgments which transcend ordinary factual determinations, must be reviewed *de novo*." *State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton*, 196 W.Va. 208, 470 S.E.2d 162 (1996), Syl. Pt. 1.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Agreement Between the Parties was For the Sale of the Petitioner's Natural Gas Production to Respondent And Not a Marketing Agreement.

Prior to 2008 Petitioner was engaged in the business of producing natural gas and selling such gas to the Respondent. On August 1, 2008 the parties executed a written Agreement which stated that Respondent "agrees to purchase and receive" and Petitioner "agrees to sell and deliver" to Respondent natural gas according to the terms of their Agreement, its exhibits and the applicable executed Term Sheet (the "Agreement"). Agreement, Introductory para., App. 73.

It is true that Respondent is engaged in the business of buying, selling, and marketing natural gas. However, contrary to Judge Farrell's findings, the primary purpose of the Agreement was not to facilitate the marketing by Respondent of Petitioner's natural gas; instead the primary purpose of the Agreement was to govern the purchase and sale of the Petitioner's natural gas to the Respondent. *Id.*

Although there is no mention of the word "marketing" anywhere in the Agreement, Judge Farrell's ruling references the term numerous times, and he went on to find that the parties entered into the Agreement for the primary purpose of facilitating the purchase, sale and **marketing** of Petitioner's natural gas into the DTI Appalachia Gateway. *See*, Order, Findings of Fact, Section A, ¶¶ 3, 4 and 10, App. 2-3. However, Judge Farrell found that

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