FILE COPY

OCT 25 2019

No. 19-0535

IN THE
DO NOT REMOVE
FROM FILE
Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia

NORTHSTAR ENERGY CORPORATION,

Petitioner (Defendant),

v.

RILEY NATURAL GAS COMPANY,

Respondent (Plaintiff).

ON APPEAL FROM THE
CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY
BUSINESS COURT DIVISION

Civil Action No. 15-C-405-3
(Honorable Paul T. Farrell)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SHAWN A. MORGAN, ESQUIRE
W. Va. State Bar No. 6640
LAUREN K. TURNER, ESQUIRE
W. Va. State Bar No. 11942
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
400 White Oaks Boulevard
Bridgeport, W. Va. 26301
Telephone: (304) 933-8000
Facsimile: (304) 933-8183

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

⁶² *Id.*

⁶³ *Reed*, 655 S.E.2d at 87.

⁶⁴ *Poweridge*, 474 S.E.2d at 878 n.11 (citing *Williams*, 459 S.E.2d at 337 n.13).

⁶⁵ Syl. pt. 3, *Williams*.

B. There is no genuine issue of material fact regarding Northstar's breach of its contract with RNG.

“In a breach of contract action, the plaintiff must make out a complete contract and allege a breach of that contract.”⁶⁶ Breach of contract consists of active or passive failure to observe a contractual obligation.⁶⁷ RNG satisfied these legal requirements. It is undisputed that RNG has a complete contract with Northstar.⁶⁸ Northstar breached that Agreement by failing to pay the DTI Gateway Charges it owed to RNG.

1. The express terms of the Agreement establish that the Delivery Point is into DTI's Appalachia Gateway Facilities.

“Where the terms of a contract are clear and unambiguous, they must be applied and not construed.”⁶⁹ “When a written contract is clear and unambiguous[,] its meaning and legal effect must be determined solely from its contents[,] and it will be given full force and effect according to its plain terms and provisions. Extrinsic evidence of the parties to such contract, or of other persons, as to its meaning and effect will not be considered.”⁷⁰ In this case, the Agreement's terms are clear, and Northstar's breach of those terms is equally clear. It is

⁶⁶ *McDaniel v. Travelers Prop. Cas. Inc. Co.*, 121 F. Supp. 2d 508, 511 (N.D. W. Va. 2000) (citing *Rhoades v. Chesapeake & O.R. Co.*, 49 W. Va. 494, 39 S.E. 209, 211 (1901)).

⁶⁷ *Holland v. Client Bros. Min. Co.*, 877 F. Supp. 308, 316 (S.D. W. Va. 1995); *see also Thomas v. Bd. of Educ. of McDowell County*, 181 W. Va. 514, 383 S.E.2d 318, 322 (1989) (“When a promisor has undertaken to do a particular act and fails to do what he is contractually bound to do, a breach occurs.”) (citing *Jefferson Cooperage Co. v. Getzendanner*, 116 W. Va. 489, 182 S.E. 90 (1935)); *Prudential Sec. Inc. v. Haugland*, 973 S.W.2d 394, 397 (Tex. App. 1998) (the elements of a breach of contract claim are the existence of a valid contract, performance or tendered performance by the plaintiff, breach by the defendant and damages to the plaintiff resulting from that breach).

⁶⁸ (See JA 131–38 and 140.)

⁶⁹ Syl. pt. 2, *Orteza v. Monongalia County Gen. Hosp.*, 173 W. Va. 461, 318 S.E.2d 40 (1984) (citation omitted).

⁷⁰ Syl. pt. 4, *Capitol Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc. v. Megginson*, 207 W. Va. 325, 532 S.E.2d 43 (2000) (citation omitted).

undisputed that RNG and Northstar entered the Agreement for the purchase, sale, and marketing of Northstar's natural gas by RNG into DTI's Appalachia Gateway Project Facilities, and for Northstar's corresponding payment to RNG of Gateway Charges.⁷¹ It is undisputed that the Delivery Point for purposes of the Agreement is "into DTI's Appalachia Gateway Facilities."⁷²

2. Even if the Agreement were to be considered ambiguous—which it should not be—the parties' course of performance confirms the same Delivery Point into DTI's Appalachia Gateway Facilities.

When language in a contract is unclear, it is ambiguous.⁷³ "When a contract is ambiguous and of doubtful and uncertain meaning, and the parties have by their contemporaneous or subsequent conduct placed a construction upon it which is reasonable, that construction will be adopted by the court."⁷⁴ "The mere fact that parties do not agree to the construction of a contract does not render it ambiguous. The question as to whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law to be determined by the court."⁷⁵

The relevant documents are unambiguous. Nevertheless, even assuming that the Agreement was ambiguous, the Parties' course of performance resolves any alleged ambiguity and demonstrates that the Delivery Point is, and always has been, into DTI's Appalachia Gateway Facilities at Dominion Transmission, Inc.'s Oakford Interconnection with Texas Eastern Transmission, LP. It is undisputed that the purpose of the Parties' Agreement was for RNG to assure FT capacity for Northstar's gas into DTI Gateway.⁷⁶ It is undisputed that, in conformance

⁷¹ (See JA 131–38 and 140.)

⁷² (JA 131 ¶¶ 1–2; JA 136–38 and 140.)

⁷³ *Berkeley County Pub. Serv. Dist. v. Vitro Corp. of Am.*, 152 W. Va. 252, 267, 162 S.E.2d 189, 200 (1968).

⁷⁴ Syl. pt. 6, *State v. Janicki*, 188 W. Va. 100, 422 S.E.2d 822 (1992).

⁷⁵ Syl. pt. 1, *id.*

⁷⁶ (JA 240 at 20–21 ("I understood that was the purpose of the contract. . . ."); JA 131–38.)

with this purpose, every document which RNG supplied to Northstar established the Delivery Point(s) “into the DTI Gateway Facilities” “at the Oakford Interconnection with Texas Eastern Transmission, LP.”⁷⁷

It is undisputed that, after entering into the Agreement, Northstar’s President exchanged emails with RNG representatives regarding the Delivery Point(s) remaining at Dominion South Point and the Oakford Interconnect on Texas Eastern—the same as it was prior to Northstar contracting for FT on the Gateway Facilities.⁷⁸ It is undisputed that Northstar released some of its DTI Gateway capacity in September 2012.⁷⁹ In addition to acknowledging this Delivery Point via its course of performance with RNG, Northstar also specified that its Receipt Point is its meter at Chelyan, West Virginia.⁸⁰

It is undisputed that Northstar asked RNG in December 2011 for confirmation of whether its “Dominion Gateway FT” was in a pod or on transmission line TL-263.⁸¹ It is also undisputed that Northstar agreed to modify its FT rate in June 2012 by executing a “DTI Appalachian Gateway Project Proposal Clarified”⁸² as well as a modified Term Sheet specifically referencing “Delivery Point(s) into DTI’s Appalachia Gateway Project Facilities....”⁸³ Finally, it is undisputed that, prior to responding to RNG’s Complaint, Northstar never suggested to RNG that it believed the Delivery Point under the Agreement was other than into the DTI Gateway.⁸⁴

⁷⁷ (JA 131 ¶ 2(b); JA 136–38; JA 140; JA 143; JA 145–46; JA 150; JA 155; JA 172–180; JA 185, 188–89, and 198.)

⁷⁸ (JA 225 and 227.)

⁷⁹ (JA 233.)

⁸⁰ (JA 150.)

⁸¹ (JA 229.)

⁸² (JA 231.)

⁸³ (JA 140.)

⁸⁴ (JA 240 at 20–21.)

3. Northstar’s argument that the Agreement was a sale agreement and not a marketing agreement lacks merit.

Focusing on only part of the Agreement, Northstar argues that the Circuit Court erred in finding that the Agreement was a marketing, rather than a sale, agreement. This argument lacks merit.

First, the Circuit Court’s reference to the Agreement encompassing “purchase, sale and marketing” is accurate and not erroneous. While Northstar claims that there is no mention of “marketing” in the Agreement, the Term Sheets, incorporated as Exhibit A of the Agreement, specifically provided for Petitioner to pay a monthly “Management Fee.”⁸⁵ Moreover, Exhibit B of the Agreement references Northstar’s obligations to pay “(a) the costs and fees for all FT reserved from DTI by [RNG] for [Northstar’s] Firm Quantity for the ten (10) year period; (b) all other charges or deductions of any kind whatsoever...; and (c) the Management Fee set forth in the Term Sheet...”⁸⁶ These include marketing fees.

Second, Northstar has admitted that RNG represented to it “that without the DTI Gateway facilities RNG would be unable to market and sell the gas produced by Northstar and Northstar depended upon RNG and its role as the transportation expert in entering into the Agreement with RNG and the representations to Northstar by representatives of RNG”⁸⁷

⁸⁵ (JA 78.)

⁸⁶ (JA 79.)

⁸⁷ (Compare JA 66 ¶ 16 (Am. Verified Compl.) and JA 86 ¶ 13 (Answer to Am. Compl. and Countercl.) (emphasis added).)

Third, when answering ¶ 17 of the Amended Complaint,⁸⁸ rather than explicitly deny that the Agreement’s primary purpose included facilitating the marketing of its gas, Northstar challenged the Agreement’s “delivery point.”⁸⁹

Fourth, Northstar’s claims that the Agreement does not relate to the marketing of its gas are directly contradicted by its counterclaim, which alleges that RNG failed to adequately market that gas.⁹⁰

Simply put, Northstar’s argument that the Agreement does not concern marketing is predicated on its incorrect assertion (*see supra*) that the “delivery point” is at its meter and therefore that such fees are not its responsibility. However, because the Agreement sets forth that the “delivery point” is “into DTI’s Appalachia Gateway Project facilities . . . ,”⁹¹ the management fee and related costs and fees for all FT reserved from DTI by Northstar—including marketing fees—remain Northstar’s obligation.⁹²

4. Whether the Agreement is unambiguous or contains an ambiguous term, Northstar breached the Agreement, thereby damaging RNG.

Regardless of whether the Court interprets the contract as unambiguous or ambiguous, the Circuit Court was correct to hold that as a matter of law, the Agreement obligated Northstar to pay RNG but that RNG failed and refused to do so,⁹³ and that, by virtue of Northstar’s breach, it is in default of the Agreement.⁹⁴ As a matter of the parties’ express contractual

⁸⁸ (JA 66.)

⁸⁹ (JA 86 ¶ 14.)

⁹⁰ (JA 92–98.)

⁹¹ (*See* JA 73 ¶ 2(b); JA 78.)

⁹² (*See* JA 78–79.)

⁹³ (JA 131–33 ¶¶ 2, 6, and 11; JA 136; JA 137.)

⁹⁴ (JA 134 ¶ 14.) *See, e.g., Bare v. Victoria Coal & Coke Co.*, 73 W. Va. 632, 80 S.E. 941, 943 (1914) (a party’s failure to make payments due under a contract has been recognized as a

agreement, RNG is entitled to liquidation and to recover from Northstar the amounts still owed under the contract.⁹⁵

C. There is no genuine issue of material fact regarding the failure of Northstar’s defenses for its breach of the contract.

Northstar attempts to excuse its breach of the contract by belatedly suggesting that the Delivery Point is at its meter at Chelyan, and by alleging that RNG therefore breached the Agreement by accepting Northstar’s payment of Gateway Charges. Northstar also contends that it is entitled to damages because RNG allegedly failed to market adequately Northstar’s gas.⁹⁶ Northstar has raised no genuine dispute on either ground, and these attempted justifications for its breach are without merit.

First, as set forth in § IV.B. herein,⁹⁷ under the terms of the Agreement, because the Delivery Point is into DTI’s Appalachia Gateway Facilities, Northstar is obligated to pay its full contractually-agreed Gateway Charges. Moreover, due to its breach of the Agreement Northstar, and not RNG, owes damages.

Otherwise, Northstar has presented no evidence to demonstrate the Agreement allows it to challenge marketing fees or to pursue early termination as it erroneously attempted. To the contrary, the Management Fee is fixed by the Agreement, and Northstar agreed to pay it.⁹⁸ Moreover, Northstar is not entitled to seek termination of the Agreement until expiration of the Primary Term in September 2022.⁹⁹ Paragraph 3 provides that the “Primary Term of this

material breach); *Chittim v. Tex. Pac. Coal & Oil Co.*, 317 F.2d 81, 85 (10th Cir. 1963) (failure to pay drilling costs constitutes a breach of contract).

⁹⁵ (JA 134 ¶ 14.)

⁹⁶ (JA 92–98.)

⁹⁷ (*Supra* at 16.)

⁹⁸ (JA 136; JA 140.)

⁹⁹ (*See* JA 131 ¶ 1; JA 132 ¶ 3.)

Agreement shall be as set forth in the Term Sheet”¹⁰⁰ The Term Sheet establishes the Primary Term as 10 years.¹⁰¹ Although the Primary Term initially was expected to begin in November 2011,¹⁰² it did not commence until September 2012, thus making the Primary Term through September 2022.¹⁰³

Paragraph 3 further provides that the Agreement “continues in effect from month to month unless terminated by either party by written notice to the other party at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the expiration of the Primary Term or any extension thereof or as otherwise set forth in this Agreement.”¹⁰⁴ The Agreement’s express language does not contemplate termination before the end of the Primary Term. Accordingly, it precludes Northstar’s December 7, 2015 attempt to terminate, as well as its attempt to do so via the Counterclaim.

Northstar has, without legal basis for doing so, withheld payment of the full amount it owes under the Agreement. Its argument that it does not owe the Gateway Charges, and that it is entitled to reimbursement of those charges and to early termination of the contract, is supported by no material fact. Nor is such stance viable under applicable law. Accordingly, RNG is entitled to summary judgment.

¹⁰⁰ (Id.)

¹⁰¹ (JA 136.)

¹⁰² (Id.)

¹⁰³ (JA 140.)

¹⁰⁴ (JA 131 ¶ 3 (emphasis added).)

D. The Circuit Court was right to find that Northstar’s decade-long delay in pressing what it says were its rights establishes as a matter of law that Northstar simply wants out of an agreement that it no longer sees as a good deal.

The parties entered into the Agreement in 2008. Northstar does not contest the fact that it happily performed that Agreement for about a decade without ever challenging the meaning of Delivery Point.¹⁰⁵ Then, in 2017, Northstar alleged for the first time that market conditions changed and that the company thus had second thoughts about the wisdom of the deal that it had made, so it needed a story to defend walking away from its earlier promises.

Northstar says it “had no reason or cause to contest the Delivery Point” until market conditions changed.¹⁰⁶ As demonstrated below, that is neither true nor relevant. From the outset, the Agreement referenced the “Delivery Points) into DTI’s Appalachia Gateway Project Facilites....”¹⁰⁷ The Term Sheets incorporated into the Agreement in September 2012 changed the Agreement’s Primary Term to coincide with the in-service date of the Gateway.¹⁰⁸ Northstar never disputed these provisions of the Term Sheets within (3) business days, as the Agreement expressly required.¹⁰⁹

Northstar asserts that “the Circuit Court did not specify the legal theory upon which it relied” to look at the fact that Northstar waited until after it got sued before coming up with what it supposedly thinks Delivery Point means. That, too, is false. The Circuit Court could not have

¹⁰⁵ (See, e.g., JA 6 (Order) ¶ 32 (“At no time prior to being sued in this matter did Northstar assert that the Delivery Point was other than at Oakford, Pennsylvania.”) and ¶ 38 (“Northstar never alleged the Delivery Point was anywhere other than the DTI Gateway until it responded to the Complaint alleging breach of the Agreement.”).)

¹⁰⁶ (Petitioner’s Br. at 21.)

¹⁰⁷ (JA 131 ¶ 2; JA 136–137.)

¹⁰⁸ (JA 140.)

¹⁰⁹ (JA 136 and 140.)

been clearer: In § C of its order, it held that the Agreement unambiguously defined the term,¹¹⁰ and in § D, it held that even if the Agreement were ambiguous, Northstar's decade-long course of performance was insurmountable evidence that its eleventh-hour attempt to redefine the term in a way that contradicted its own conduct lacked merit as a matter of law.¹¹¹

But even assuming counterfactually that Northstar were correct and the Circuit Court had relied on waiver or laches, as Northstar argues, it would have been perfectly correct in doing so. As for waiver, Northstar argues that waiver is inapplicable because waiver requires, *inter alia*, the relinquishment of a known right, whereas Northstar, it says, did not know that RNG was using Delivery Point to mean a location other than what Northstar supposedly thought it meant. Northstar is wrong.

Northstar does not deny that for years, it had everything before it necessary to “learn” how RNG was using Delivery Point. Northstar argues only that it lacked the *motivation to bother doing so*.¹¹² Neither a mere change of heart nor supposedly coming to one's senses can serve to undo (or prevent) a waiver. The undeniable evidence is that Northstar was *not* subjectively “unaware of the specifics of those contracts,” nor was Northstar's supposed failure to read what it had signed objectively reasonable, even assuming that it is credible.¹¹³

¹¹⁰ (JA 10–12 ¶¶ 57–63.)

¹¹¹ (JA 12–14 ¶¶ 64–75.)

¹¹² (See, e.g., Petitioner's Br. at 23 (saying that it only bothered to look at what it had known all along because “the changing economic conditions . . . caused it to look carefully at the terms of the contracts under which it operated”).)

¹¹³ See, e.g., *IKON Office Sols., Inc. v. Am. Office Prod., Inc.*, 178 F. Supp. 2d 1154, 1165 (D. Or. 2001) (“Ikon argues that it did not intend to waive its rights, but what matters is the *objective* manifestations evidenced by Ikon's words and deeds, not some hidden subjective reservations or intent.”) (emphasis added), *aff'd*, 61 F. App'x 378 (9th Cir. 2003); *Dunkin' Donuts Inc. v. Panagakos*, 5 F. Supp. 2d 57, 60 (D. Mass. 1998) (“Whether or not a waiver has been effected is determined by an *objective* assessment of the conduct of the party asserted to have surrendered its contractual rights.”) (emphasis added).

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